IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC04-2094

LOWER TRIBUNAL No. 1983-CF-001682-0

ROBERT IRA PEEDE,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

TIFFANY R. MURPHY *Pro Bono* Counsel Florida Bar No. 638641

LINDA MCDERMOTT Special Assistant CCRC-S Florida Bar No. 102857

OFFICE OF THE CAPITAL COLLATERAL REGIONAL COUNSEL 101 N.E. 3rd Ave., Suite 400 Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 (954) 713-1284

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 25, 1983, Mr. Peede was charged by indictment with one count of first-degree murder (R. 1008). He pled not guilty. After a jury trial, Mr. Peede was found guilty on February 17, 1984 (R. 1235). The jury recommended death by a vote of eleven (11) to one (1) (R. 1247).

On August 27, 1984, the trial court imposed a sentence of death on the count of first-degree murder (R. 1251-2).

On direct appeal, the Florida Supreme Court affirmed Mr. Peede's convictions, but overturned the aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense or moral justification. This Court found that there was no heightened premeditation proven which would substantiate the aggravating circumstance. Peede v. State, 474 So. 2d 808 (Fla. 1985).

In response to a death warrant signed on May 6, 1988, Mr. Peede filed his initial Rule 3.850 motion on June 6, 1988 (PC-R1. 4). In it's response, the state conceded than an evidentiary hearing should be held on Peede's competency to stand trial, the adequacy of his psychiatric evaluation, ineffective assistance of counsel claims, and the alleged Brady violation (PC-R1. 207-23). After granting a stay, the state

xiii

court scheduled an evidentiary hearing for October 7, 1988 (PC-R1. 224). However after continuances were requested by both the State and the defense, the evidentiary hearing was postponed (PC-R1. 17-42).

Postconviction counsel for Mr. Peede filed an amended 3.850 motion on February 21, 1995 (PC-R1. 448-612). On June 21, 1996, the state court issued an order reversing the original grant of an evidentiary hearing and summarily denying Mr. Peede's remaining 3.850 claims (PC-R1. 632). A Motion for Rehearing was filed on July 9, 1996 (PC-R1. 1637). The motion was denied by the circuit court on January 27, 1997 (PC-R1. 1689). Mr. Peede appealed the summary denial of his 3.850 motion to this Court (PC-R1. 1690).

This Court remanded Mr. Peede's case to the circuit court for an evidentiary hearing. <u>Peede v. State</u>, 748 So. 2d 253 (Fla. 1999). This Court directed the circuit court to hold a hearing on Mr. Peede's competency to stand trial claim, inadequate psychiatric evaluation claim, ineffective assistance of counsel claims, trial counsel failed to present an insanity defense claim, <u>Brady</u> claim, and whether or not state agencies improperly withheld files from Mr. Peede's postconviction counsel. <u>Id</u>. at 254.

After the remand, Mr. Peede's postconviction counsel doubted that Mr. Peede was competent to proceed (PC-R2. 1172-99). A competency hearing was held on May 24, 2000. Several experts testified about Mr. Peede's competency to proceed in postconviction as well as his other mental health impairments which affected him throughout his life (PC-R2. 1405-1536). Several physical and psychological medical records pertaining to Mr. Peede were introduced during that hearing. Due to Mr. Peede's resistance to meeting the court-appointed experts, some experts submitted their reports to the court based solely on the records introduced at the competency hearing (PC-R2. 1221-8). After reviewing these reports and hearing arguments, the lower court found Mr. Peede competent to proceed in his postconviction proceedings (PC-R2. 1237).

During the competency proceedings, Mr. Peede requested new counsel due to continuous conflicts with his appointed counsel. These conflicts resulted in a series of motions and hearings regarding the need to appoint "conflict-free" counsel (PC-R2. 1243-7, 1286-7, 1385).

Once new counsel was appointed, Mr. Peede's competence to proceed again became an issue. A motion to determine competency was filed on December 6, 2001 (PC-R2. 1393-8). The State

responded stating that the issue had already been resolved (PC-R2. 1399). The state court ordered Mr. Peede transported to the Transitional Care Unit (TCU) at Union Correctional Facility on September 9, 2002, to determine his competency and what other possible impairments were affecting his mental state (PC-R2. 1560). The court ordered supplemental reports on Mr. Peede's competency on regular intervals (PC-R1 1388-90). A second competency hearing was held. At the hearing, Dr. David Frank, the psychiatrist who monitored Mr. Peede while in T.C.U., testified about Mr. Peede's mental health problems. However, the circuit court found Mr. Peede competent to proceed (PC-R2. 1606-7).

On November 10 and 12, 2003, and January 12 through 14, 2004, an evidentiary hearing was held. The hearing was limited to the four claims specifically delineated by this Court in its opinion remanding the case for a hearing. The claims were: the ineffectiveness of counsel during the penalty phase, <u>Brady</u> violations, and Mr. Peede's competency to proceed at trial. After the hearing, the circuit court denied all relief (PC-R2. 1774-86). Mr. Peede filed a motion for rehearing on August 30, 2004 (PC-R2. 1897-1912). The circuit court denied the motion on September 23, 2004. A Notice of Appeal was timely

filed on October 20, 2004 (PC-R 1918-19). This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

THE TRIAL

Shortly after Mr. Peede's extradition back to Florida, the Orange County Public Defender's Office was appointed to represent him. Theotis Bronson was first assigned to represent Mr. Peede. Just before trial commenced, Joseph DeRoucher, the Public Defender for Orange County, joined the defense as penalty phase counsel. A motion for a psychiatric examination was requested by trial counsel on June 2, 1983 (R. 1015-6). Dr. Robert Kirkland was appointed to evaluate Mr. Peede. That evaluation occurred on October 11, 1983, at the Orange County Jail, for the purposes of determining if Mr. Peede was competent to stand trial or insane at the time of the offense (R. 1239). Dr. Kirkland evaluated Mr. Peede for a total of an hour and a half (R. 935). He conducted no psychological testing, received no medical records, and spoke with no collateral witnesses (R. 953-5).

In his report, Dr. Kirkland stated that Mr. Peede's behavior was "highly suggestive of a paranoid disorder", but he did not find him insane or incompetent to stand trial.¹ (R.

 $^{^{1}}$ Dr. Kirkland's conclusions were not presented to the jury (R. 1241-2).

1239). Dr. Kirkland also stated that he did not feel he could be of any assistance to the defense at that time (R. 1239). No further contact was had with Dr. Kirkland and defense counsel until shortly before the penalty phase of Mr. Peede's trial (PC-R2. 176).

Prior to Mr. Peede's trial, he requested that he be allowed to represent himself. The trial court inquired about Mr. Peede's background and in doing so, Mr. Peede indicated that he had seen mental health professionals in his past, though he did not think that he ever saw a psychiatrist (R. 1435). At the conclusion of the court's inquiry, the court denied Mr. Peede's request to represent himself (R. 1439).

During the State's opening argument, the prosecutor informed the jury that Mr. Peede had murdered his wife and that the murder was premeditated. The prosecutor also told the jury that the victim, Darla Peede "was afraid that [Mr. Peede] was going to kill [her]." (R. 503). So, Darla had moved to Miami and "did all the things you do when you're about to set up a life on your own away from your husband . . ." (R. 503-4).

Indeed, the State presented the testimony of Darla Peede's daughters, Tanya Bullis and Rebecca Keniston. Ms. Bullis testified that on the day her mother went to meet Mr. Peede at

the airport, that her mother told her that she "was afraid of being taken to North Carolina." (R. 599-600). Additionally, Ms. Bullis' mom told her that she was afraid if being put with the other people that Mr. Peede had threatened to kill on Easter (R. 600).

Trial counsel countered the prosecutions factual scenario during his opening statement when he told the jury that Darla Peede's death occurred at the hands of Mr. Peede, but that it occurred while Mr. Peede was in a "fit of rage" (R. 508). Trial counsel also told the jury that Mr. Peede was described as having two distinct personalities: calm and serene and at "[o]ther times things would set him off, drive him into a rage . . ." (R. 508). Yet, despite, trial counsel's comments to the jury about Mr. Peede's mental state, at Mr. Peede's capital trial, no expert testimony or evidence was presented to the jury in this regard at the guilt phase.

At trial, the jury learned that Mr. Peede confessed to the killing his wife shortly after he was arrested in North Carolina. In his confession, he admitted killing his wife, Darla Peede, during their trip from Florida to North Carolina (S-Ex. 14). However, during the confession, he repeatedly stated that the could not remember the actual killing, but that

he just "nutted up." (S-Ex. 227).

Mr. Peede also told law enforcement that during the drive to North Carolina, he and Darla began to discuss the fact that Mr. Peede had seen her picture in some magazines containing naked females (R. 721). Mr. Peede was angry and upset about her posing for these magazines (R. 749). Mr. Peede told law enforcement that he never intended to kill his wife (R. 730). Mr. Peede also believed that his wife had posed for some photos with his ex-wife and a man named, Calvin Wagner (R. 722).

Throughout the course of his trial, Mr. Peede's behavior was extremely bizarre. During the course of the trial, Mr. Peede would appear with paperclips in his ear and a hand drawn "x" between his eyes (PC-R2. 398). Also, he refused to wear the civilian clothes brought by his attorneys and insisted upon wearing his jail jumpsuit (R. 1207, 1209).

At several points he demanded that no cross examination be conducted of several key witnesses in the State's case. These witnesses included Darla Peede's daughter, Tanya Bullis and Mr. Peede's ex-wife, Geraldine Peede (PC-R1. 1248-9, 1274-6). Mr. Peede told the jury that his attorneys were acting against his wishes in cross-examining these witness (PC-R1. 1275-6). Soon afterwards, Mr. Peede requested that he be allowed to absent

himself from the remainder of the trial (PC-R1. 1305). After the trial court and counsel met with him at the jail, the decision was made to waive Mr. Peede's presence at his trial (PC-R1. 1306-21). Thereafter, the jury, who received no explanation as to Mr. Peede's disruptive conduct, soon convicted him of first degree murder (PC-R1. 1234-5).

After the guilt phase, trial counsel requested that another mental health examination be conducted for the purposes of the penalty phase. The trial court ordered Dr. Kirkland to reevaluate Mr. Peede on February 24, 1984 (R. 1240). The report from that examination was filed with the trial court on March 2, 1984 (R. 1241-2). The evaluation lasted only forty minutes (D-Ex. 10).

After explaining Mr. Peede's account of how the murder took place, Dr. Kirkland concluded that the entire event was a "mitigating circumstance", but that Mr. Peede was not insane at the time of the offense. However, he did "feel that the capital felony was committed while the defendant was under the influence of extreme mental and emotional disturbance." (R. 1241). This report was not provided to the jury during the penalty phase.

In preparation for the penalty phase, trial counsel contacted Percy Brown, a cousin of Mr. Peede's, who still living

in North Carolina. They requested that he gather letters on Mr. Peede's behalf from several family members to use during the penalty phase (S-Ex. 7; R. 954-6). The letters were sent to trial counsel and were the only exhibits introduced during the penalty phase on Mr. Peede's behalf.

The penalty phase took place on March 5, 1984. During the hearing, the State called two witnesses to testify about Mr. Peede's prior second degree murder conviction from California. One witness was a police officer who investigated the case, and the other was Austin Backus, who witnessed the shooting, while he was a young teenager (R. 937, 940).

In mitigation, trial counsel introduced the letters and called only Dr. Kirkland to testify (R. 948). During his testimony, Dr. Kirkland gave no specific diagnosis of what Mr. Peede's condition was, but stated that Mr. Peede's description of events showed "strong paranoid elements." (R. 952). He further stated that it was his opinion that Mr. Peede committed the murder while under the influence of extreme mental and emotional disturbance (R. 950).

The extent of Dr. Kirkland's testimony can be summarized in a single question and answer about Mr. Peede's mental state:

Q: Were you able to identify in Mr. Peede any, any[sic] recognizable mental illness?

A: I felt, and I continue to feel, that Mr. Peede has certain, certain type of character structure that he is maybe, in lay terms, he's sort of a tough guy, macho, explosive at times. But I was most impressed with certain rather strong paranoid elements that developed into a scenario involving the two wives, and which I think played a large part in Darla's death.

(R. 951-2). And, on cross-examination, the State impeached and minimized Dr. Kirkland's testimony based on the fact that his opinion was based solely on Mr. Peede's self-report and no medical or other background information; not even the letters provided by his family (R. 954-6).

The jury recommended death by a vote of eleven to one (R. 1247).

The trial court sentenced Mr. Peede to death on March 23, 1984, finding that the aggravating circumstances of a prior violent felony and the offense being committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner had been established and were not outweighed by the sole mitigating factor that Mr. Peede was under the influence of extreme mental or emotion disturbance at the time of the offense (R. 1263-5). In weighing the mental health mitigation, the trial court minimized the import of the statutory mitigator: "Viewing the testimony of Dr. Robert Kirkland that the Defendant experienced a specific paranoia that

the victim and his ex-wife, Geraldine Peede, were posing in nude magazines, the Court, giving the Defendant the benefit of the doubt, will consider it a mitigating circumstance.²" (R. 1264). Thus, the court also minimized Dr. Kirkland's testimony because it was based solely on self-report. In terms of other mitigation, the trial court gave no weight to the letters sent by Mr. Peede's family (R. 1265). No other mitigation was found by the trial court (Id.).

DIRECT APPEAL

On direct appeal, this Court struck the aggravating circumstance that the murder had been committed in a cold, calculated an premeditated manner:

Although we find that the evidence of premeditation is sufficient to support a finding of premeditated murder, there was no showing of the heightened premeditation, calculation, or planning that must be proven to support a finding of the aggravating factor that Darla's murder was cold, calculated, and premeditated. The record supports the conclusion that Peede intended to take Darla back to North Carolina as a lure to get Geraldine and Calvin to come to a location where he could kill them. It does not establish that he planned from the beginning to murder her once he had completed his plan in North Carolina. By prematurely murdering her at the time he did, he eliminated his bait.

<u>Peede v. State</u>, 474 So. 2d 808, 817 (Fla. 1985). However, this

²During the trial, Geraldine Peede denied ever taking nude photographs or posing in any "Swinger" type magazines (R. 1268-

Court concluded that the remaining two aggravating factors: prior violent felony conviction and committed in the course of a kidnapping, outweigned "the one marginal mitigating circumstance" found by the trial court. <u>Id</u>. at 818.

POSTCONVICTION PROCEEDINGS

After this Court remanded Mr. Peede's case for an evidentiary hearing, postconviction counsel requested that the circuit court determine if Mr. Peede was competent to proceed. Experts were appointed and hearings were held on March 24, 2003.³ During the hearings, four doctors testified regarding Mr. Peede's competency. Two doctors found Mr. Peede to be incompetent due to his inability to assist postconviction counsel (PC-R2. 1452, 1488). The other two doctors could not make a diagnosis because Mr. Peede refused to see them (PC-R2. 1464, 1468). However, those doctors could not rule out the possibility of Mr. Peede being unable to assist his counsel (PC-R2. 1464, 1468). The court determined that Mr. Peede was competent to proceed on June 22, 2000 (PC-R2. 0128).

After the hearing, the circuit court granted Mr. Peede's counsel's motion to withdraw (PC-R2. 1286-1287). New counsel

9, 1272-3).

³At the hearing Mr. Peede requested that new counsel be

was appointed to represent Mr. Peede (PC-R2. 1385).

Mr. Peede's new counsel also believed Mr. Peede was incompetent to proceed. Postconviction counsel related information to the court regarding their contacts with Mr. Peede: New counsel explained to Mr. Peede that they required input from him in order to prepare for his evidentiary hearing, during a telephone conversation on November 6, 2001 (PC-R2. 1394). Mr. Peede's response to counsel was, "there is nothing wrong with me and I'm not going to talk to anybody. I'm not crazy." (PC-R2. Id.). Subsequently, Mr. Peede's counsel met with Mr. Peede in person at Union Correctional Institution on November 13, 2001 (PC-R2. Id.). Mr. Peede informed counsel that it was very difficult for him to talk about himself and began to weep (PC-R2. 1395). Counsel's attempts to calm Mr. Peede failed and he became increasingly emotional (PC-R2. Id.). Mr. Peede related that there are "things that I don't like about myself." (PC-R2. Id.). Suddenly, Mr. Peede's facial expression altered and he began yelling "it's a lie, it's a lie" and began hyperventilating (PC-R2. Id.). His face reddened and he told counsel, "if Darla loved me, then she would have never posed for pornographic pictures." (PC-R2. Id.). As Mr. Peede talked, he

appointed to represent him.

began shaking (PC-R2. <u>Id</u>.). When he finished his explanation, he began crying uncontrollably (PC-R2. <u>Id</u>.). For the next ten minutes, Mr. Peede stood in a corner facing the wall with his back toward counsel (PC-R2. 1396). He continued to shake (PC-R2. <u>Id</u>.). Mr. Peede did not respond to attempts to comfort him (PC-R2. <u>Id</u>.). After several minutes, he sat down (PC-R2. <u>Id</u>.). He was silent (PC-R2. <u>Id</u>.). Then he began crying again and got up and went to the corner (PC-R2. Id.).

Additionally, postconviction counsel was aware that Mr. Peede had a history of bizarre behavior when discussing his life. For example, during a meeting with Dr. Teich, defense's mental health expert, Mr. Peede became so upset that he repeatedly banged his head against the table. Dr. Teich had to restrain Mr. Peede from hurting himself by cradling Mr. Peede's head in Dr. Teich's hand. (PC-R2. 1502-1503)

The court ordered a competency evaluation and appointed Dr. Berns to conduct the evaluation (PC-R2. 1219). The court ordered Mr. Peede moved to the Transitional Care Unit (TCU) to better facilitate the competency proceedings (PC-R2. 1563). During his stay there, Mr. Peede was monitored by Department of Corrections employee, Dr. Frank. Dr. Frank was never instructed to perform a competency evaluation of Mr. Peede.

A second competency hearing was held on July 18, 2003. The only witness called to testify at the hearing was Dr. Frank. Dr. Frank explained that he evaluated and monitored Mr. Peede for signs of mental illness and to determine if Mr. Peede could maintain the activities of daily living (PC-R2. 0539). Dr. Frank considered Mr. Peede to be competent even though he did not consider the factors related to competency to proceed in postconviction proceedings (PC-R2. 0542). Additionally, in response to the court's questioning Mr. Peede's ability to assist postconviction counsel, Mr. Peede stated: "Truth is, it hurts too much. So I'm not thinking about it, and I don't want to talk about it . . . I don't think about it and I don't talk about it. That's the end of it. If you want to kill me, kill That's it. I'm through with it." (PC-R2. 0553). me. The circuit court found Mr. Peede competent. Mr. Peede appealed the circuit's finding of competency on September 2, 2003, prior to his evidentiary hearing. This Court dismissed Mr. Peede's appeal as prematurely filed. Peede v. State, 868 So. 2d 524 (2004).

An evidentiary hearing was held on November 10 and 12, 2003 and January 12 through 14, 2004, on Mr. Peede's claims of ineffective assistance of counsel in both the guilt and penalty

phases, a <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, that Mr. Peede was incompetent at the time of his trial, and was deprived of a meaningful mental health expert in violation of <u>Ake v. Oklahoma</u>.

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