IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

ROBERT IRA PEEDE,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. SC04-2094 Lower Tribunal No. CR83-1682

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE NINTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

\_\_\_\_\_/

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

SCOTT A. BROWNE ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Florida Bar No. 0802743 Concourse Center 4 3507 East Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

##

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

Peede argues that records from Peede's California incarceration were important because they showed that Peede was diagnosed as schizophrenic. (Appellant's Brief at 55). However, not one of the many experts who testified below

believed that Peede was schizophrenic. Thus, a single incorrect previous diagnosis contained in Peede's corrections file from California cannot form the basis for finding Dr. Kirkland's examination in the instant case was inadequate.

Appellant largely ignores the fact that Dr. Kirkland provided favorable evidence to Peede during the penalty phase. In fact, he testified that the statutory mitigating factor of extreme emotional disturbance applied in this case. Peede did not call Dr. Kirkland to testify during the hearing below and there is no basis to conclude that his opinion, already favorable to Peede at the time of the penalty phase, would have changed with the benefit of any background material obtained by collateral counsel. Consequently, defense counsel cannot be considered ineffective in failing to provide the additional background material Peede claims should have been obtained and provided to him. See e.g. Carroll v. State, 815 So. 2d 601, 611 (Fla. 2002) (Even "assuming trial counsel was deficient for failing to provide the additional background information" defendant failed to demonstrate prejudice under Strickland where the experts would not have changed their opinions with the benefit of such material); Engle v. Dugger, 576 So. 2d 696, 701 (Fla. 1991) ("Counsel had Engle examined by three mental health experts, and their reports were submitted into evidence. There

is no indication that counsel failed to furnish them with any vital information concerning Engle which would have affected their opinions.").

In any case, simply because Peede found two defense oriented experts from out of state who would also find that the murder was committed while Peede's ability to conform his the requirements of the law was substantially to conduct impaired [in addition to the emotional disturbance mitigator found by Dr. Kirkland], does not establish the examination of Dr. Kirkland was inadequate. It is by now well established that a defendant is not entitled to post-conviction relief simply because he is able to obtain the opinions of more favorable experts. See Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1052 (Fla. 2001) fact that Cherry found a new ("The expert who reached conclusions different from those of the expert appointed during trial does not mean that relief is warranted under Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.850, [citation omitted], especially where there is no evidence other than Dr. Crown's [postconviction defense expert] statement that Dr. Barnard conducted a superficial examination that Dr. Barnard's evaluation was insufficient."); Gaskin v. State, 822 So. 2d 1243, 1250 (Fla. 2002) ("We have held that counsel's reasonable mental health investigation is not rendered incompetent 'merely because the

defendant has now secured the testimony of a more favorable mental health expert.'")(quoting <u>Asay v. State</u>, 769 So. 2d 974, 986 (Fla. 2000); <u>Downs v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 506 (Fla. 1999) ("The fact that Downs has found experts willing to testify more favorably concerning mental mitigating circumstances is of no consequence and does not entitle him to relief.")(citations omitted). Moreover, the more credible testimony of Dr. Frank and Dr. Merin disputed the defense experts' finding regarding Peede's capacity to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law. Thus, the record provides ample support for the trial court's denial of relief.

## (iii) Prejudice

Even assuming, *arguendo*, Peede has established some deficiency in counsel's penalty phase presentation, he has not established any resulting prejudice. As noted above, the mitigation developed by collateral counsel was not compelling and was partially countered by evidence showing Peede's temper, the fact he was mean to women who rejected his advances from an early age, and, that he threatened to kill a witness called on his own behalf. The facts surrounding his kidnapping and murder of Darla, as well as the facts of his prior murder conviction, clearly overcome the mitigation presented by collateral counsel during the hearing. Moreover, the additional mental mitigating

evidence was offset by the testimony of Dr. Merin and Dr. Frank. See Bertolotti v. Dugger, 883 F.2d 1503 (11th Cir. 1989) (counsel's failure to present psychiatric testimony which would have been strongly disputed by the State's expert witnesses would not have affected the outcome of the sentencing proceeding in light of the strong aggravating circumstances); Breedlove v. State, 692 So. 2d 874, 878 (Fla. 1997) (three aggravating factors of during a burglary, HAC, and prior violent felony overwhelmed the mitigation testimony of family and friends offered at the postconviction hearing); Haliburton v. Singletary, 691 So. 2d 466, 471 (Fla. 1997) (no reasonable probability of different outcome had mental health expert testified, in light of strong aggravating factors); Tompkins v. Dugger, 549 So. 2d 1370, 1373 (Fla. 1989) (postconviction evidence of abused childhood and drug addiction would not have changed outcome in light of three aggravating factors of HAC, during a felony, and prior violent convictions).

Collateral counsel simply has not produced the quantity nor quality of mitigating evidence to establish that the outcome of his sentencing proceeding was unfair or unreliable. <u>Cherry v.</u> <u>State</u>, 659 So. 2d 1069, 1073 (Fla. 1995) (noting "standard is not how present counsel would have proceeded, in hindsight, but rather whether there was both a deficient performance and a

reasonable probability of a different result"). This case presents a better factual situation for the State than <u>Hodges v.</u> <u>State</u>, 885 So. 2d 338, 351 (Fla. 2003), where this Court found no prejudice based upon trial counsel's alleged penalty phase deficiencies. In <u>Hodges</u>, this Court compared the defendant to Wiggins and stated:

In assessing the prejudice prong of the Strickland standard, the Wiggins Court reweighed the evidence in aggravation against the totality of the mitigating evidence, and determined the evidence of severe privation, physical and sexual abuse and rape, periods homelessness and diminished mental capacities, of comprised the "kind of troubled history we have declared relevant to assessing a defendant's moral culpability." Wiggins, 539 U.S. at 535. Noting that in Maryland, the death recommendation must be unanimous, the High Court determined, "Had the jury been able to place petitioner's excruciating life history on the mitigating side of the scale, there is a reasonable probability that one juror would have struck a different balance." Id. at 537.

A similar analysis in the instant matter fails to yield a similar result. Certainly, the absence of generalized evidence pertaining to the asserted social dysfunction of Hodges' entire hometown, and his exposure to environmental toxins in the general area, coupled with more specific evidence even when regarding his abusive and impoverished upbringing, would not have rendered the sentencing proceeding unreliable. The jury recommended a death sentence by a ten-to-two majority, and the trial court found that the State had established two serious aggravators: commission of murder to disrupt or hinder law enforcement and that the act was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. See Hodges I, 595 2d at 934. Even with the postconviction So. allegations regarding Hodges' upbringing, it is highly unlikely that the admission of that evidence would have led four additional jurors to cast a vote recommending life in prison. See <u>Asay</u>, 769 So. 2d at 988 (determining that there was no reasonable probability that evidence of the defendant's abusive childhood and history of substance abuse would have led to a recommendation of life where the State had established three aggravating factors, including CCP); see also <u>Breedlove v. State</u>, 692 So. 2d 874, 878 (Fla. 1997).

#### Hodges v. State, 885 So. 2d 338, 350-351 (Fla. 2003)

In this case, the vote in favor of death was 11-1, not 10 to 2 as in Hodges. Moreover, two serious aggravators, applied, including one of the most weighty, prior violent felony. Indeed, the aggravating factors are stronger in this case than Hodges. One of the prior violent felonies committed by Peede was a murder, clearly among the most weighty under Florida's statutory scheme. See generally Ferrell v. State, 680 So. 2d 390 (Fla. 1996) (prior second degree murder); Lindsey v. State, 636 So. 2d 1327 (Fla.), cert. denied, 513 U.S. 972 (1994) (contemporaneous first degree murder and prior second degree murder); Duncan v. State, 619 So.2d 279 (Fla.), cert. denied, 510 U.S. 969 (1993) (death sentence affirmed where single aggravating factor of prior second-degree murder of fellow inmate was weighed against numerous mitigators). Peede failed to demonstrate prejudice under Strickland.

## III.

# WHETHER APPELLANT WAS DENIED AN ADEQUATE MENTAL HEALTH EXAMINATION IN VIOLATION OF AKE V. OKLAHOMA? (STATED BY APPELLEE)

The trial court extensively analyzed this issue in rejecting this claim below, stating:

Due process requires that a defendant have access to a "'competent psychiatrist will who conduct an appropriate examination and assist in the evaluation, preparation, and presentation of the defense.'" Mann v. State, 770 So. 2d 1158, 1164 (Fla. 2000) (quoting Ake v. Oklahoma, 470 U.S. 68, 83 (1985)). Prior to his original trial, Defendant was evaluated by Dr. Dr. Kirkland also testified on Robert Kirkland. behalf of Defendant at trial, and presented evidence of mitigation.

As defense counsel Mr. DuRocher testified, Dr. Kirkland "through the late '70s and into the '80s, was recognized by the Courts of this circuit as one of the preeminent forensic psychiatrists in the area, and was frequently called by both the State and defense to do these kinds of evaluations and make these kind of reports." The Court finds that Dr. Kirkland's evaluations and assistance were appropriate and met the due process requirements recognized by the United States Supreme Court in Ake.

First, the Court would note that Dr. Kirkland did not have available to him all of the background information regarding Defendant now available to the defense experts called at the evidentiary hearing. Yet, the Court finds that Dr. Kirkland's findings and conclusions did not vary materially from the findings and conclusions of the defense's current experts.

Dr. Kirkland described Mr. Peede's personality as including "strong paranoid elements" and testified that Mr. Peede had a "specific paranoia" regarding his former wives' infidelity that did not appear to be based in reality. Dr. Kirkland also found and testified that Mr. Peede was "very vulnerable to having rather severe emotional outbursts," and that Mr. Peede himself felt that he was insane at the time of the murder.

Similarly, the defense experts called at the evidentiary hearing, Dr. Faye Sultan and Dr. Brad Fisher, diagnosed Mr. Peede as having a paranoid personality disorder and as suffering from the narrowly circumscribed "delusional disorder" described above. Dr. Sultan and Dr. Fisher both testified that Mr. Peede was prone to severe emotional outbursts, including violent outbursts that were completely unrelated to his delusion. In addition, the defense experts testified that there was nothing about the structure of Mr. Peede's delusion itself that would have prevented him from judging between right and wrong.

Dr. Sultan admitted on cross-examination that Dr. Kirkland diagnosed the presence of Mr. Peede's paranoid disorder and noted Mr. Peede's obsessive and Dr. Fisher also testified that delusional thinking. Dr. Kirkland's opinions were consistent with his own In fact, it appears that much of the diagnosis. difference between Dr. Kirkland's conclusions and those of the current defense experts is semantic. As explained by Dr. David Frank, testifying for the State, the earlier version of the Diagnostic and III″) Statistical Manual (or "DMS references а "paranoid disorder" that is now referred to in the current version of the Manual (the "DSM-IV-TR") as a disorder." "delusional Therefore, although Dr. Kirkland did not label his diagnosis as a "delusional disorder," it appears that this was simply because he quite appropriately used the term ("paranoia") recognized by the then-current diagnostic manual.

Additionally, both Dr. Kirkland and the defense's current experts testified that Mr. Peede was suffering under an extreme mental and emotional disturbance at the time of the murder. Relying on Dr. Kirkland's testimony, the trial court found that this statutory mitigating circumstance applied in the case. The trial court, also relying on Dr. Kirkland's testimony, recognized Mr. Peede's "specific paranoia" (again, now termed a "delusional disorder"), which was considered at the time of sentencing.

Unlike Dr. Kirkland, both of the defense's current experts believed that Mr. Peede should have been considered as qualifying for the statutory mitigating circumstance that "{t]he capacity of the defendant to appreciate the criminality of her or his conduct or to conform her or his conduct to the law was substantially impaired." requirements of However, this legal conclusion appears inconsistent experts' testimony that Mr. with these Peede's delusional disorder did not affect his ability to tell Additionally, both Dr. Frank and right from wrong. Dr. Sydney Merin, the State's other expert witness, opined that Mr. Peede did know right from wrong and was capable of conforming his behavior to the law at the time of the murder.

Having carefully considered the testimony of all of these experts, the Court finds that Dr. Kirkland cannot be faulted for failing to opine that Mr. Peede's capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct was substantially impaired at the time of the murder. The fact that Defendant may now have found experts whose opinions are more favorable to him does not render incompetent the evaluation and opinions of Dr. Kirkland. See Gaskin v. State, 822 So. 2d 1243, 1250 (Fla. 2002).

Additionally, the Court finds that the Mr. Peede received an adequate and appropriate psychiatric examination from a well-qualified professional who appropriately assisted in the preparation and presentation of his defense. The Court finds no due process violation and no basis for relief on this claim.

(V-26, 1776-78)

The State can add little to the extensive and detailed order of the trial court. However, to the extent that appellant is asserting an <u>Ake</u> claim, and is not simply reasserting his

ineffective assistance of counsel claim, that claim is procedurally barred.<sup>9</sup> See Moore v. State, 820 So. 2d 199, 203, n.4 (Fla. 2002) (affirming summary denial of an Ake claim in a post-conviction motion because Ake claims should be raised on direct appeal and therefore, are procedurally barred in postconviction litigation); Dufour v. State, 905 So. 2d 42, 53-54 (Fla. 2005) (finding Ake claim procedurally barred because it was not raised on direct appeal). In any case, it is by now well established, that a mental health examination is not inadequate simply because a defendant is later able to find experts to testify favorably in his behalf. See Jones v. State, 732 So. 2d 313, 320 (Fla. 1999), citing Correll v. Dugger, 558 So. 2d 422, 426 (Fla. 1990); and State v. Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221, 1224 (Fla. 1987). A new sentencing hearing is mandated only where the mental examinations were so grossly insufficient that they ignore clear indications of either mental retardation or organic brain damage. See Sireci, 502 So. 2d 1221, 1224. No such serious deficiency has been shown in this case.

As recognized by the trial court below, trial counsel did not ignore potential mental health issues in this case. Judge Bronson retained Dr. Kirkland early on in his representation of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Procedurally barred claims are reviewed de novo. Questions of fact are reviewed by the competent, substantial evidence standard.

Peede. The defense presented no evidence to suggest, much less establish that Dr. Kirkland lacked the training, knowledge, qualifications, or experience to conduct a forensic evaluation of the appellant at the time of trial. The record reflects that Dr. Kirkland interviewed appellant twice, provided a written report, and provided favorable testimony in the penalty phase. See Gorby v. State, 819 So. 2d 664, 681 (Fla. 2002).

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